1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA	
2	OSCAR HERNANDEZ,	
4	Appellant,) Electronically File Apr 26 2024 02:0	d 5 PM
5	vs. Elizabeth A. Brow SUPREME COURT CASTER OF Supreme	n Court
6 7 8 9 10	THE HOME DEPOT, INC.; AND) RIGID TOOL COMPANY) and DOES I - V, and ROE) CORPORATIONS I - V, inclusive,) Respondents.)	
12 13	APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF	
14 15		
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24		
2526		
27		
28		

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons and entities as described in NRAP 26.1(a) and must be disclosed. These representations are made in order that the judges of this court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This matter is before the Nevada Supreme Court on a certified question from the United States District Court for the District of Nevada. The accepted certified question is as follows:

Does Nevada impose strict products liability on an entity whose only involvement with a defective or unreasonably dangerous product is to license its trademark to be used to market the product and where the product and packaging prominently display its trademark?

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal should be retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(12) ("Matters raising as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance, or an issue upon which there is an inconsistency in the published decisions of the Court of Appeals or of the Supreme Court or a conflict between published decisions of the two courts.") The Supreme Court should take this opportunity to clarify whether Nevada shall impose strict products liability on an entity whose only involvement with a defective or unreasonably dangerous product is to license its trademark to be used to market the product and where the product and packaging prominently display its trademark.

J

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

2.7

This matter is before the Nevada Supreme Court on a certified question from the United States District Court for the District of Nevada. The accepted certified question is as follows:

Does Nevada impose strict products liability on an entity whose only involvement with a defective or unreasonably dangerous product is to license its trademark to be used to market the product and where the product and packaging prominently display its trademark?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before the Nevada Supreme Court on a certified question from the United States District Court for the District of Nevada. The accepted certified question is as follows:

Does Nevada impose strict products liability on an entity whose only involvement with a defective or unreasonably dangerous product is to license its trademark to be used to market the product and where the product and packaging prominently display its trademark?

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

This matter arose when a RIGID nail gun malfunctioned and shot OSCAR HERNANDEZ in the chest. *See*, APPDX 075. As detailed in APPDX 083, the gun in question was packaged and sold under the RIGID name.



As seen in APPDX 085, the gun itself prominently bore the RIGID name.



Because the gun in question had packaging and labeling prominently holding itself out as a RIGID product OSCAR sued RIGID under a theory of product liability. APPDX 083. After the close of discovery RIGID filed a motion for partial summary judgment wherein RIGID claimed it was only the licensor of the gun. *See*, APPDX 057. OSCAR filed a response to RIGID's motion. *See*, APPDX 075. RIGID then filed its reply. *See*, APPDX 086. On December 18, 2023, the United States District Court issued an Order Certifying the instant question to the Nevada Supreme Court. *See*, APPDX 109. The Supreme Court accepted the certified question on February 23, 2024. APPDX 115.

SUMMARY OF APPELLANTS' ARGUMENT

As a licensor is well within the stream of commerce, and as section 400 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, otherwise known as the "apparent manufacturer doctrine" provides that an entity which "puts out" a product as its own will be held liable as though it were the manufacturer of the product, Nevada should impose strict products liability on an entity whose only involvement with a defective or unreasonably dangerous product is to license its trademark to be used to market the product and where the product and packaging prominently display its trademark.

ARGUMENT

RIGID asks that it not be subject to liability under the theory of strict products liability because RIGID claims it was merely the licensor of the RIGID trade name and was not otherwise involved in the design, manufacture and/or distribution of the nail gun at issue. However, courts have held that licensors, particularly licensors who hold themselves out as the apparent manufacturer of the good(s) in question are liable under strict product liability law.

Section 400 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts provides that an entity which "puts out" a product as its own will be held liable as though it were the

21

22

23

20

24 25

26 27

28

manufacturer of the product. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 400. Named the "apparent manufacturer" doctrine, the rule makes up the basis of many court opinions extending liability to pure licensors such as RIGID that neither manufacture nor sell goods. The rationale for this extension of liability is twofold. First, having used its trademark to convince the consumer that it was the manufacturer of the goods, the licensor cannot distance itself from the manufacturer when the latter produces a defective good. The second rationale, which was most clearly expressed by the Illinois Supreme Court in Hebel v. Sherman Equip., is that "where a defendant puts out a product as its own, the purchaser has no means of ascertaining the identity of the true manufacturer. ... [I]t is thus fair to impose liability on the party whose actions effectively conceal the true manufacturer's identity." Hebel v. Sherman Equipment, 442 N.E. 2d 199, Indeed in the instant matter, the identity of the true 201-03 (III. 1982). manufacturer was not revealed to Oscar until after discovery closed in the federal action.

Similarly, the Court in *Connelly v. Uniroyal Inc.* held that the doctrine of strict product liability may be applied, by way of the apparent manufacturer doctrine, to licensors who authorize the use of their trademarks, especially when the products do not include any visible indication that the products were

¹ The authority and reasoning set forth herein may be found in Jordan Lewis' article, "TM

manufactured by any other company. *Connelly v. Uniroyal Inc.*, 389 N.E.2d 155, 163 (Ill. 1979). In the instant action the gun in question did not indicate it was manufactured by any company other than RIGID. The packaging and labeling on the gun itself prominently displayed the RIGID name. *See*, APPDX 083 and 085. There are no visible indications that the product was made by any other company. *Id.* RIGID cannot disclaim the gun after permitting the prominent use of the RIGID name as was done in this matter.

The principle underlying the *Connelly* decision is often referred to as the "stream of commerce" approach and is routinely cited for the idea that pure licensors can be apparent manufacturers. The theory behind the stream of commerce approach is that all entities that take part in production or marketing are strictly liable for any injuries resulting from the entity(ies) placing a defective good in the stream of commerce. This approach is based in an always-moving cost-benefit analysis, that holds entities who benefit from the sale of defective products responsible for the costs. *Kasel v. Remington Arms Co.*, 101 Cal. Rptr. 314, 322 (Cal. Ct. App. 1972).

A multitude of different views have emerged in the case law. The most expansive view holds that the apparent manufacturer doctrine applies to licensors whenever a licensor's name or mark appears on a product. For example, in

Licensors Beware: Your Product Liability Risks May Vary" Published by Law 360, Portfolio

1 B
2 a
3 B
5 1 C

Brandimarti v. Caterpillar Tractor Co., a plaintiff suffered injury while operating a forklift bearing the Caterpillar tradename, and sued Caterpillar for same. Brandimarti v. Caterpillar Tractor Co., 527 A.2d 134, 139-40 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1987). The forklift, however, was manufactured by a subsidiary of Caterpillar; Caterpillar was not involved in the design, manufacture or marketing of the product. Nonetheless, the found that Caterpillar could be held strictly liable because "Caterpillar could expect others to purchase the product in reliance on the skill and reputation associated with the Caterpillar name." *Id* at 139.

Notably, the court did not require the plaintiff to show that he or the owner relied on the Caterpillar name before using or purchasing the product, or that Caterpillar exercised quality control over the product's actual manufacturer. The theme of this holding, and many other courts have followed, is that product manufacturers can expect purchasers or users to rely on the tradename in their decision to buy or operate their products, and therefore can be held strictly liable for a licensee's defective product.

In the aforementioned *Kasel v. Remington Arms Co.*, 101 Cal. Rptr. 314 (App. Ct. 1972) the Remington Arms Company was held liable for injuries from the explosion of a shotgun shell manufactures by a licensee in Mexico. The California Court held Remington liable under an enterprise theory and rejected the

trial court's ruling that would have limited the application of strict liability to actual manufacturers or proof of agency as RIDGE TOOL requests be done in the instant action. In *Remington* the Court ruled in the alternative that as the subsidiary held out the product as being manufactured by the licensor, liability could be imposed upon the licensor. *Id*.

Other states making similar findings include New Jersey, California, New Mexico, Michigan, Pennsylvania, and Washington. *Brandimarti v. Caterpillar Tractor Co.*, 527 A.2d 134, 139-40 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1987); *Turner v. Bituminous Casualty Co.*, 244 N.W.2d 873 (Mich. 1976) (holding that the broad "continuity of enterprise" theory mandates the imposition of liability on a licensee); Kasel *v. Remington Arms Co.*, 101 Cal. Rptr. 314 (App. Ct. 1972); *Saez v. S&S Corrugated Paper Mach. Co.*, 302 N.J. Super, 545 (App. Div. 1997) (applying the "product line" liability doctrine). There is no reason the Court should permit RIGID to disclaim responsibility for the gun in question given the facts of this matter. Any licensor who holds themselves out as the manufacturer of the product should be held liable under strict product liability law.

Additionally, Nevada has recognized that strict product liability applies to "the suppliers" of goods upon the market. *Ford Motor Co. v. Trejo*, 402 P.3d 649, 653 (Nev. 2017) (citing *Shoshone Coca-Cola Bottling Co. v. Dolinski*, 82 Nev. 439, 442, 420 P.2d 855, 857 (1966). A licensor falls under a suppler of goods.

Just as with a manufacturer, a licensor has "invited and solicited the use" of the product. Id. Certainly the RIGID nail gun could not be on the market and available to the public if not for RIGID licensing the same. There would be no reason to absolve a RIGID from liability when RIGID, as a licensor, profits significantly from its active role in making the goods available to the public.

Finally, given Nevada law seeks to spread the costs of defective products among those who benefit as a result of the product's presence in the marketplace, surely the licensor, who does literally nothing other than let others use the product name while the licensor sits back and rakes in profits, should be the first in line to bear the cost of any harm that results because the product is on the market. The responsibility of harm resulting from defective products should be spread to all within the stream of commerce. This should include the licensor.

///

///

///

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons this Court should hold that Nevada does impose strict products liability on an entity whose only involvement with a defective or unreasonably dangerous product is to license its trademark to be used to market the product and where the product and packaging prominently display its trademark.