IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Supreme Court Case No. 87794

Electronically Filed
May 28 2024 09:36 AM
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

OSCAR HERNANDEZ, Appellant

٧.

THE HOME DEPOT, INC.; RIDGE TOOL COMPANY, Respondents.

CERTIFIED QUESTION PURSUANT TO NRAP 5

United States District Court
District of Nevada
Case No. 2:22-cv-00938-APG-EJY
Hon. Andrew P. Gordon

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Rosario M. Vignali, Esq.
Ellen S. Bowman, Esq.
WILSON, ELSER, MOSKOWITZ, EDELMAN & DICKER LLP
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
Telephone: (702) 727-1400; Fax: (702) 727-1401

Attorneys for Respondent Ridge Tool Company

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

ARGUMENT

A. The Trend in American Law has been to Absolve a Trademark Licensor of Potential Products Liability unless it Participated Substantially in the Design, Manufacture or Distribution of the Product.

The overwhelming trend in American law for the last few decades has been to restrict the potential liability of trademark licensors to those situations where the licensor substantially participated in the design, manufacture, or distribution of the allegedly defective product.

This trend follows the 1998 publication of the Restatement (Third) of Torts:

Product Liability (Am. Law Inst. 1998) [hereinafter, "Restatement (Third)"]. Section

14 of the Restatement (Third) provides, in part, that:

"[o]ne engaged in the business of selling or otherwise distributing products who sell or distributes as its own a product manufactured by another is subject to the same liability as though the sell or distributor were the product's manufacturer." Restatement (Third) § 14.

Within this context, comment D to the Restatement (Third) specifically addresses the liability of trademark licensors and states that the rule set forth in Section 14:

does not, by its terms, apply to the owner of a trademark who licenses a manufacturer to place the licensor's trademark or logo on the manufacturer's product and distribute it as though manufactured by the licensor. In such a case, even if purchasers of the product might assume that the trademark owner was the manufacturer, the licensor does not 'sell or distribute as its own a product manufactured by another' . . . Trademark licensors are liable for harm caused by defective products distributed under the licensor's trademark or logo when they participate substantially in the design, manufacture, or distribution of the licensee's products. In these circumstances they are treated as sellers of the products bearing their trademarks.

Restatement (Third) § 14 cmt. d (emphasis added).

Therefore, under the Restatement (Third)'s rule, absent substantial participation in the design, manufacture or distribution of the product, the trademark licensor cannot be liable for an alleged product defect. Courts from around the United States soon followed with quick adaptations of the Restatement (Third)'s rule:

• *Harrison v. B. F. Goodrich Co.*, 881 So. 2d 288, 292 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (relying on the Restatement (Third), the Court held that "there is no liability for an allegedly defective product on the part of a trademark

licensor who was not involved in the design, manufacture or sale of the product.")

- App. 2005) ("trademark licensor may be liable as an apparent manufacturer when the licensor is *significantly* involved in the manufacturing, marketing, or distribution of the defective product.") (emphasis added) (citing *Torres v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co.*, 786 P.2d 939, 945 (Ariz. 1990)).
- Schenepf v. Kansas Gas Service Company, Case No. 04-4143-JAR, 2005

 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4167, at *12-13 (D. Kan. Mar. 4, 2005) (claim against a trademark licensor was viable where there is "substantial or integral involvement in the manufacture, sale, distribution, or marketing of the alleged defective product.")
- Auto Ins. Co. of Hartford Conn. v. Murray, Inc., 571 F. Supp. 2d 408, 423 (W.D.N.Y. 2008) (trademark licensor not liable "where there is no evidence of 'actual control' over the production, including any capacity to exercise control over product quality, or the distribution, including sales."); see also, D'Onofrio v. Boehlert, 635 N.Y.S.2d 384, 385 (N.Y. App. 4th Dept. 1995), where New York's Appellate Division upheld the trial court's decision granting defendant Spalding's (a trademark licensor)

motion for summary judgment because a "trademark licensor cannot be held liable for injuries caused by a defective product bearing its label where the licensor did not design, manufacture, sell, distribute or market the allegedly defective item."; *Bova v. Caterpillar, Inc.*, 761 N.Y.S.2d 85, 87 (N.Y. App. 2d Dept. 2003) (products liability could not be imposed on licensor where, although the name "Caterpillar" was on the forklift involved in the accident, plaintiff did not offer evidence that Caterpillar, Inc. had participated in the manufacture, sale or distribution of the forklift).

- Lou v. Otis Elevator Co., 933 N.E. 2d 140, 148 (Mass. App. Ct. 2010) (trial court did not commit error by instructing the jury from Sec. 14 of the Restatement (Third)).
- Anunciacao v. Caterpillar Inc., No. 07-10904-JGD, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 118374, at *10 (D. Mass. Oct. 13, 2011) (only a nonseller trademark licensor which "participates substantially in the design, manufacture or distribution of the licensee's product may be held liable under Massachusetts law as an apparent manufacturer.") (emphasis added)

The trademark licensing arrangement was Respondent's, Ridge Tool Company's, only involvement (through affiliated companies) with the Model R350RHF RIDGID nail gun involved in Appellant's accident. The undisputed record demonstrates that Ridge Tool Company had no role whatsoever with the

Model R350RHF nail gun's design, manufacture and distribution or the formulation of its warnings or instructions. To the contrary, the undisputed evidence is that Ridge/Emmerson companies licensed the "RIDGID" tradename to Defendant, Home Depot – which then marketed a line of power tools, including the Model R350RHF RIDGID nail gun at issue, that were designed and marketed by third-party companies. [AA 072, ¶ 5.]

B. Appellant's Reliance on the Apparent Manufacturer Doctrine is Misplaced

Appellant cites the Apparent Manufacturer Doctrine (AMD) to support his position. Appellant's reliance on the AMD is curious, at best, since the AMD is a separate and distinct potential basis for liability than that of a trademark licensor's when based on substantial participation in the product's design, manufacture, or distribution.

First developed in the early 20th century⁴, the AMD was applied to wholesale and retail sellers that placed their own labels or trademarks on goods that had been manufactured by others⁵. These "*apparent* manufacturers" then took the position (to avoid potential liability) that, as a non-manufacturer who simply placed its logo or

⁴ This analysis of the historical development of the AMD is taken, in part, from *Hebel v. Sherman Equipment*, 442 N.E. 2d 199, 201 (Ill. 1982) (superseded by statute), one of the cases discussed in Appellant's Opening Brief.

⁵ One common example of this practice is Sears' historic use of its well-known "Craftsman", "Die-Hard", and "Kenmore" labels for its line of power tools, automotive batteries and appliances.

trademark on the product, it could not be liable for the product's defect or nonperformance. Against this setting, and at a time when notions of modern-day
"products liability" law had yet to be developed in American jurisprudence, the
AMD emerged to prevent the wholesale/retail seller from denying that it
manufactured the goods in question, especially where the trademark or logo likely
led reasonable consumers to believe that wholesale/retail seller had indeed
manufactured the goods.

Two justifications for the development and use of the AMD emerged: (i) to protect the consumer who reasonably expected that the product in question carried the level of quality that the consumer had come to expect from the apparent manufacturer, and (ii) to provide the injured consumer with a target if the identity of the actual manufacturer (as opposed to the apparent manufacturer) was not disclosed or was otherwise unavailable.

The AMD as applied by Courts throughout the United States eventually converged in Section 400 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts when it was published in the 1960s. However, the very wording of the Restatement (Second) applies the AMD only to those that actually *sell* the product:

• The title to Section 400 of the Restatement (Second) is "Selling as Own Product Chattel Made by Another" (emphasis added);

• The text of Section 400 of the Restatement (Second) states that it applies to an entity which, "puts out as (its) own product a chattel manufactured by another"; Comment A to Section 400 explains that the term 'one who puts out a chattel' includes "anyone who *supplies* it to others for their own use or for the use of third persons, *either by sale or lease or by gift or loan*" (emphasis added).

As such, Section 400 of the Restatement (Second) applies only to entities that actually sell or otherwise transfer the goods at issue. Trademark licensors like Ridge Tool Company and its affiliated companies, which were otherwise not involved in the nail gun's design, manufacture and/or distribution, do not fall in that category.⁶ Accordingly, the AMD has no applicability to Ridge Tool Company and Appellant's reliance on it is entirely misplaced.

C. The Case Law and Article Cited by Appellant Do Not Support Appellant's Position.

Appellant seeks to support his position by citing one outlier case and cases that do not actually discuss the potential strict liability of a trademark licensor. Most certainly, Appellant cites cases decided before the adoption of the Restatement (Third) and the development of the modern trend of absolving trademark licensors

⁶ There is no dispute that The Home Depot sold the nail gun to Appellant's employer and that Ridge Tool Company never took possession of it.

of strict liability unless they participated substantially in the product's design, manufacturing and/or distribution.

For example, the *Brandimarti* case cited by the Appellant is clearly in the minority. *See Brandimarti v. Caterpillar Tractor Co.*, 527 A.2d 134 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1987). If nothing else, *Brandimarti* was decided well-before the Restatement (Third) was published. Its holding runs contrary to the very requirement of the Restatement (Second) that any finding of liability against a trademark licensor must be limited to one that actually sells or distributed the product⁷. By contrast, cases decided in the same time period as *Brandimarti*, like *Torres v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co.*, 786 P. 2d 939 (Ariz. 1990), imposed liability against the trademark licensor only where it was inextricably involved in providing the licensee with production formulas and specifications, retained the right to approve the licensee's labeling, marketing, packaging and advertising and where the licensor also retained approval over materials used by the licensee.⁸ *Id.* at 947. With cases like *Brandimarti* in conflict

_

⁷ It is not even clear from the published opinion in *Brandimarti* whether Caterpillar Tractor Company had issued a trademark license to Towmotor, Inc, the manufacturer of the forklift at issue. What is clear from the published opinion, however, is that "Caterpillar did not manufacture or sell the forklift at issue". *See Brandimarti*, 527 A.2d at 139.

⁸ See also, City of Hartford v. Associated Construction Co., 384 A. 2d 390, 392 (Conn. Super. Ct. 1978) (liability against the trademark licensor found where it designed, advertised, manufactured, distributed, sold, nationally promoted and issued instructions and specifications for the product).

with the very wording of the Restatement (Second), it is little wonder that the Restatement (Third) clarified the potential liability of trademark licensors who are not otherwise involved in the product's design, manufacture or distribution of the product.

The other cases cited by the Plaintiff are likewise unavailing. They too were all decided before the Restatement (Third) was ever published, whereas the post-Restatement (Third) cases cited in this Brief clearly show the modern trend in the case law. Appellant relies heavily on the Connelly case from the Illinois Supreme Court. However, Connelly did not actually impose liability on the licensor (Uniroyal). See Connelly v. Uniroyal, Inc., 289 N.E.2d 155 (Ill. 1979). It simply held that the mere fact that the licensor was not in the chain of the product's distribution was not dispositive on the issue, while it remanded the case to the trial court for further proceedings consistent with the case's holding. *Id.* at 412. Just a few years later, in *Hebel*, the Illinois Supreme Court concluded that the trademark licensor was not liable under the Restatement (Second), while explaining that its holding in Connelly was based on the trademark licensor "integral involvement" in the overall production of the product. Hebel v. Sherman Equipment, 442 N.E.2d 199, 204 (III. 1982) (superseded by statute).

⁹ The Supreme Court of Illinois in *Hebel* stated, "Comparing the facts of the two cases, it is evident that the circumstances that persuaded us that Uniroyal should be

Two other cases cited by Appellant involve Michigan's adaption of "successor liability" (*see Turner v. Bituminous Cas. Co.*, 244 N.W.2d 873 (Mich. 1976)) and New Jersey's adoption of the "product line" theory of "successor liability" (*see Saez v. S&S Corrugated Paper Machinery Co., Inc.*, 695 A.2d 740 (N.J. App. Div. 1997)) – neither case appearing to contain any discussion whatsoever of the AMD. Finally, in *Kasel*, the licensor was held liable for the underlying product defect only because it was found to be inextricably involved with the product's development – facts far afield from those before this Court. *Kasel v. Remington Arms Co.*, 101 Cal. Rptr. 314 (Cal. Ct. App. 1972).

Although Appellant's Opening Brief would have the reader believe that judicial findings of liability against trademark licensors were common and widespread under various interpretations of the Restatement (Second), that contention is belied by the historic record. Not only did *Hebel* absolve the trademark licensor, but other cases did so as well for various reasons articulated by the court.

_

responsible for defective products manufactured by its licensee are absent here." *Hebel*, 442 N.E.2d at 205.

¹⁰ The majority's decision in *Kasel* closed by noting that its decision "is confined to the specific facts of this case," including that the licensor (Remington) had caused the manufacturer to be formed, equipped and launched; had personnel at the manufacturer's facility; had trained the manufacturer's key personnel; had stock ownership, officers and directors in common with the manufacturer; had financed, and had received substantial revenue from, the manufacturer; and had rights to control over the quality of the goods produced by the manufacturer. *Kasel*, 101 Cal. Rptr. at 334.

See, e.g., In Re TMJ Implants Products Liability Litigation, 880 F. Supp. 1311, 1318 (D. Minn. 1995), aff'd 113 F. 3d 1484 (8th Cir. 1996) (Plaintiffs did not allege that they relied on the reputation of the licensor in making the purchase decisions)¹¹; Burket v. Petrol Plus of Naugatuck, Inc., 579 A. 2d 26, 35 (Conn. 1990) (trademark licensor did not actually sell or distribute the allegedly defective product and was not involved in the product's design or manufacturing); Fletcher v. Atex, Inc., 68 F. 3d 1451, 1465 (2d. Cir. 1995) (trademark licensor did not participate in the manufacturing process); Yoder v. Honeywell, Inc., 900 F. Supp. 240, 246 (D. Colo. 1995) (no evidence that the trademark licensor provided specifications for the allegedly defective produce or exercised significant control over the product's production); Jackson v. Cold Spring Terrace Property Owners Assoc., 939 S.W. 2d 762,763-64 (Tex. Ct. App. 1997) (licensor's involvement was limited to merely displaying the trademark on the product and providing some marketing assistance to the licensee); *Holman Motor Co. v. Evans*, 314 S.E. 2d 453, 455 (Ga. Ct. App. 1984) (trademark licensor was not liable as apparent manufacturer where the identity of the actual manufacturer was disclosed).¹²

¹¹ There could be no such reliance under the facts before this Court as it is undisputed that Appellant was not the actual purchaser of the nail gun at issue.

¹² As discussed in the following section of this Brief, Respondent fully disclosed the name of the actual manufacturer of the nail gun at the earliest stages of this litigation.

Moreover, even the 2018 Jordan Lewis article¹³ cited by the Appellant does not help his cause. In that article, the author makes the following points:

- Citing Sec. 14 of the Restatement Third), it states that the AMD "was designed only to extend manufacturer liability to retail sellers who place their trademark on goods. Thus, unless the trademark licensor also sells the goods . . . they cannot be held liable under the doctrine."
- The expansive view of the AMD reflected in cases like *Brandimarti* (Pennsylvania) and *Hebel* (Illinois) is the minority view;
- Most states have limited the reach of the AMD, while others (Michigan;
 Arizona; Missouri; Texas; Wisconsin) have refused to adopt the doctrine either by legislation or case law¹⁴.
- Other jurisdictions (New York, Connecticut, Massachusetts, Kansas, and Colorado) apply the AMD only to those instances where the licensor plays

¹³ The 2018 Jordan Lewis article was an exhibit to the Respondent's Reply Brief submitted to the district court. It was not made part of the Appendix submitted by the Appellant and is, instead, made part of the Respondent's Appendix. [See RA 011-016.]

¹⁴ This includes the Ninth Circuit's rejection of the AMD under Arizona law in *Torres v. Goodyear Tire*, 867 F. 2d 1234, 1236 (9th Cir. 1989), while noting that, even under an analysis of the Restatement (Second)'s AMD rule, Goodyear had not "put out" or sold the product. *See also*, *Nelson v. Int'l Paint Co.*, 734 F. 2d 1084, 1087 (5th Cir. 1984) (rejecting, under Texas law, application of the AMD under Sec. 400 of the Restatement (Second)).

a significant role in the production, marketing or chain of distribution of the product.

In summary, the case law and article cited by the Appellant in his Opening Brief do not support his position. *Brandimarti* is actually an outlier. Other cases decided at about the same time as *Brandimarti* reached the conclusion that a trademark licensor could be strictly liable for a product defect only where it participated substantially in the product's design, manufacturing, distribution and/or the formulation of its warnings.

D. Respondent Did Not Hide the Fact that it was a Mere Licensor Only

A recurring theme in Appellant's argument, both before the federal district court and in his Opening Brief, is his statement that the "identity of the true manufacturer was not revealed to [Appellant] until after discovery closed in the federal action" [Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB") at p.6.] — the obvious implication being that Respondent laid a trap during discovery in the federal district court and then sprung a surprise on the Appellant with its motion for summary judgment. Although not directly related to the certified question before this Court, Respondent would be remiss if it did not address the inaccuracy of the statement.

In fact, Ridge Tool Company's status as the mere licensor of the "RIDGID" tradename was first made known to the Appellant in its Petition for Removal dated

June 13, 2022 [AA 073-074, ¶¶ 6-7] and then, almost immediately thereafter, in par. 5 of Respondent's Answer of June 20, 2022. [AA 049.]

Subsequently, par. 3 of Exhibit B to Respondent's Rule 26 Initial Disclosure, dated August 10, 2022, [RA 020, ¶ 3] mentioned "Ridge Tool Company's licensing of the 'RIDGID' trade name and the company's non-involvement in the product's design and manufacture or the formulation of its warnings", and identified the product manufacturer, Techtronic Industries Power Equipment (formerly known as "One World Technologies, Inc.") at par. 4 [RA 020, ¶ 4]. In addition, several of the documents made part of Respondent's Rule 26 disclosure, including the nail gun's Repair Sheet and Operator's Manual, also identified to any reader, including the consumer, the name of the product manufacturer. [RA 022, 024, 029, 030, 031.]

Plaintiff's deposition took place on December 12, 2022. A representative of the product manufacturer, David Anderson, was present for the testimony and the subsequent product inspection that took place that afternoon at Plaintiff's counsel's office. He was introduced to Plaintiff and his counsel, both of whom were told of his association with Techtronics, and his name appears on the official transcript as a representative of "Techtronic Industries". At the start of the deposition, he was again introduced to the Plaintiff on the record as "David Anderson of Techtronic Industries, One World Technologies". [RA 035.]

Appellant and his counsel, for whatever reason, ignored all of the above. They were never deceived about Ridge Tool Company's status as the mere licensor of the "RIDGID" trade name and they were never deceived as to the identity of the actual product manufacturer. Instead, they allowed discovery in the federal district court to close without any Interrogatories and/or Requests for Production or, for that matter, without any discovery whatsoever on the licensing issues against Respondent, Ridge Tool Company. They took no deposition of a Ridge Tool Company witness. That was Appellant's decision, but he cannot now complain of "prejudice."

E. Trademark Licensing Fosters Economic Growth, Enables Product Innovation and Empowers the Consumer

As the Court is aware, trademark licensing involves a trademark owner (the "licensor") that grants permission to another entity (the "licensee") to use that trademark, or "brand", on terms and conditions agreeable to both parties.¹⁵

Because one of the historic functions of a trademark was to indicate the manufacturing source of a product, trademark licensing was once impossible

¹⁵ For reference, Respondent has utilized the following sources as an overview of this topic and attached for convenience to Respondent's Appendix: TRADEMARK LICENSING Module 12, available at https://www.wipo.int/export/sites/www/sme/en/documents/pdf/ip panorama 12 le arning_points.pdf (last accessed May 16, 2024); Professor William Hennessey, The Role of Trademarks in Economic Development and Competitiveness, FRANKLIN previously retrieved **PIERCE** LAW CTR.. http:// ipmall.info/hosted_resources/Hennessey_Content/RoleofTrademarks inEconomicDevelopmentandCompetitiveness.pdf.

because of the confusion that would result if a product was manufactured by one company but carried the name or logo of another. That changed with the passage of the Lanham Act in the 1940s which, among other things, allowed for trademark licensing provided that the licensor retained some interest and control over the quality of goods sold in association with the trademark. This retained interest served to ensure that the consumer will receive the same quality of goods no matter where, and by what entity, the trademarked product is manufactured.

The exponentially greater use of trademark licensing since passage of the Lanham Act has resulted in trademark-based merchandising where the trademarks of popular companies, sports teams, universities and the like carry with them significant consumer recognition and appeal, resulting in better sales (at a better price) of otherwise common goods or services. In the case of new products, trademark licensing allows a company to launch initial sales after teaming-up with the owner/licensor of a recognized brand. Alternatively, the two companies can use trademark licensing to "co-brand" a product or service. Finally, through trademark licensing, companies can make known to the market the fact that their product contains a valued ingredient or component – for example, computer manufacturers' use of "Intel inside" – or that their product meets certain technical standards.

Trademark licensing undoubtedly provides material benefits to the licensor and licensee. Trademark licensing generates royalties to the licensor, fosters

territorial expansion and allows companies to take advantage of each other's manufacturing, distribution, sales, and marketing expertise. Trademark licensing allows companies to enter new product markets, monetize old or discontinued trademarks that otherwise no longer have any value and, in some cases, convert trademark infringers into valued partners.

As a result, the use of trademark licensing is pervasive throughout the worldwide economy. It certainly is pervasive in Nevada's economy. But the consumer also enjoys substantial benefit from the free use of trademark licensing. Consumers every day rely on known brands of goods and services and can make their product selection in a matter of seconds based on the brand's perceived quality or distinctive attribute, both of which is conveyed by the presence of the licensed trademark. Without access to the brand, the consumer would otherwise be unsure about the product's quality, reliability, and safety. Purchase decisions would take hours, not seconds.

Accurate market information in the form of freely-licensed trademarks and brands, therefore, saves the individual consumer time and effort in making market decisions. By multiplying an individual consumer's saved time by the millions of consumers who purchase a product every day based on its recognized licensed trademark, it is easy to see how society saves millions of hours of productive consumer activity every day by the free use of trademark licensing.

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